IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE FLORIDA BAR,		
Complainant,		
•		Case No. 96,980
v.		TFB No. 98-10,468(20A)
JAMES EDMUND BAKER,		
Respondent.	,	
	,	

INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT, JAMES EDMUND BAKER

Joseph A. Corsmeier, Esquire Florida Bar Number 0492582 Tew, Barnes & Atkinson, L.L.P. 2655 McCormick Drive Prestige Professional Park Clearwater, Florida 33759 (727) 799-2882 Attorney for Respondent

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND THE FACTS

Statement of the Case

The Florida Bar filed its formal Complaint on November 9, 1999, and an Amended Complaint on December 16, 1999. Respondent filed an Answer to the Amended Complaint on January 3, 2000.

The Final Hearing in this matter was held on May 5, 2000. The Report of Referee was executed on May 26, 2000, and filed with this Court on June 5, 2000. The Report was considered by the Board of Governors of the Florida Bar at its meeting which ended September 15, 2000, and the Board voted not to seek review of the discipline recommended by the Referee. On or about January 2, 2001, Respondent filed a Motion to Remand to Referee for Further Evidentiary Proceedings with this Court. The Respondent's Petition for Review was timely filed with this Court also on January 2, 2001.

Statement of the Facts

The facts of this case are as follows:

At all times relevant to the events which are the subject matter of this action, Respondent was married and had been living in New York with his wife and children. (Tr. page 17, line 18-19; page 18, lines 2-5). Respondent and his wife also owned a home in Miami, Florida, which they had purchased in 1990 or 1991. (Tr. page 18,

lines 6-10; page 57, lines 3-8). Respondent's parents lived in the Miami home. (Tr. page 58, lines 17-18; page 65, lines 20-21; page 71, lines 16-18; page 57, lines 3-8).

At some time before April 1997, Respondent moved from New York to Ft. Myers, Florida, to begin new job as staff attorney for the Lee County School Board. (Tr. page 18, line 20 - page 19, line 6; page 57, lines 1-2). His wife and children remained in New York, and his wife was responsible for making the monthly mortgage payments for the Miami home. (Tr. page 20, lines 18-20).

On or about April 9, 1997, Respondent's wife abandoned the marital home in New York and took their children with her. (Tr. page 19, lines 9-13; page 56, line 23). Simultaneously, Respondent's wife obtained a temporary restraining order against Respondent. (Tr. page 19, lines 10-13; page 56, lines 9-14). Additionally, during the same month, the mortgage company caused notices of foreclosure as to the Miami property to be sent to Respondent and his wife at their New York address, as well as to their Miami address. The notice was not sent directly to Respondent in Ft. Myers, Florida. (Tr. page 20, lines 19-24). Respondent's wife personally received the written notice of foreclosure of the Miami property, because she continued to pick up the mail delivered to the former marital home in New York. (Tr. page 58, lines 4-8). Respondent's parents received the notice of foreclosure at the Miami property, and they contacted Respondent and advised him of the foreclosure notice. (Tr. page 20,

lines 19-24; page 31, lines 2-6).

Respondent and his wife had been communicating freely with each other despite the temporary restraining order then in place. (Tr. page 20, lines 13-18, 25; page 21, lines 1-2; page 58, lines 9-14; page 61, line 22-23; page 61, line 19 - page 62, line 2). Upon learning of the pending foreclosure from his parents, Respondent in turn contacted his wife by telephone to find out what was going on. (Tr. page 20, lines 18-24; page 58, lines 9-14). Respondent and his wife agreed to put the Miami property up for sale "by owner" and that Respondent's father, who was still residing in the Miami house, would assist in its sale. (Tr. page 19, line 25 - page 20, line 6, page 20, line 25 - page 21, line 5; page 58, lines 9-18; page 66, lines 9-10; page 71, lines 16-18). Respondent's father, not Respondent, found a buyer. (Tr. page 58, lines 17-18; page 62, line 23). Neither Respondent nor his wife met with, spoke with, or in any way negotiated with the buyer. (Tr. page 23, lines 1-3; page 74, line 25 - page 75, line 2).

On or about July 1, 1997, the buyer offered a Contract for Sale and Purchase on the Miami house. (Tr. page 24, lines 2-7). On or about July 3, 1997, Respondent signed the Contract. (Tr. page 24, lines 8-14). At about the same time, Respondent retained a real estate attorney in Miami, Larry Parks, to review and prepare documents necessary to effectuate the closing on behalf of Respondent and his wife. (Tr. page

6, lines 5-25; page 24, lines 15-22).

Mr. Parks subsequently requested from Respondent documents relative to the preparation for the sale of the Miami property. (Tr. page 25, lines 6-9). Respondent's wife had with her in New York all of the documents necessary for the sale of the Miami home. (Tr. page 25, lines 7-8; page 27, lines 6-13). Respondent flew to New York the weekend following the execution of the Contract for Sale and Purchase, discussed the pending sale with his wife, and his wife provided him with the original documents to effect the sale. (Tr. page 25, lines 6-9; page 27, line 25 - page 28, line 7). Upon his return to Florida, Respondent immediately forwarded the documents to Mr. Parks, who then prepared the closing documents and delivered the closing documents to Respondent for signature. (Tr. page 25, lines 6-9). Upon receipt of the closing documents, Respondent signed both his name and his wife's name on all closing documents. (Tr. page 26, lines 11-14; page 27, lines 14-17; page 28, lines 9-15). Respondent asked his secretary, Marlene Keller, to notarize the signatures, which she did. (Tr. page 36, lines 21-23; page 37, lines 19-21; page 91, lines 2-5). Respondent then sent copies of the closing documents to his wife (Tr. page 42, line 21; page 59, lines 15-16) and returned by overnight delivery the original closing documents to Mr. Parks (Tr. page 36, lines 11-15), who completed the closing and delivered the sale proceeds to Respondent. Upon receipt of the sale proceeds,

Respondent negotiated the check and paid outstanding marital and family debts, including the marital debt to Respondent's parents. (Tr. page 39, lines 16-20; page 50, line 4).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Respondent was not afforded a separate hearing to explain the circumstances of his alleged offense and to offer testimony and evidence in mitigation of any discipline to be imposed which constituted a violation of his right to due process of law.

The Referee's findings of fact are erroneous, not supported by the record, and do not support a finding that Respondent violated any Rules Regulating The Florida Bar.

If this Court finds that Respondent violated any Rules Regulating The Florida Bar, consideration of the true and correct facts and circumstances, mitigating factors, case law, and purposes of attorney discipline show that Respondent should receive an admonishment for minor misconduct or, at most, a public reprimand.

ARGUMENT

I. THE REFEREE'S FAILURE TO HOLD A SEPARATE HEARING TO AFFORD RESPONDENT THE OPPORTUNITY TO EXPLAIN THE CIRCUMSTANCES OF THE ALLEGED OFFENSE AND TO OFFER TESTIMONY AND EVIDENCE IN MITIGATION OF ANY DISCIPLINE IMPOSED CONSTITUTES A VIOLATION OF RESPONDENT'S RIGHT TO DUE PROCESS OF LAW.

The Final Hearing in the above-styled cause was held on May 5, 2000. In his Report of Referee dated May 26, 2000, the Referee recommended that Respondent be found guilty of violating Rules 4-8.4(a); 4-8.4(b); and, 4-8.4(c), of the Rules Regulating The Florida Bar and be disbarred from the practice of law in the State of Florida for a period of five (5) years. Prior to the Referee making his recommendation as to discipline and in advance of any such discipline being imposed against Respondent, Respondent was not provided the opportunity to provide testimony and other evidence to the Referee in mitigation in violation of his right to the due process of law as required in The Florida Bar vs. Carricarte, 733 So.2d 975 (Fla. 1999); The Florida Bar v. Kravitz, 694 So.2d 725 (Fla. 1997); and Sections 9.1 and 9.3, Subsection 9.32, Florida Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions.

This Court has previously held that, in determining the discipline to be imposed, due process requires that the attorney be permitted to "explain the circumstances of the alleged offense and to offer testimony in mitigation of any penalty to be imposed." The Florida Bar v. Carricarte, 733 So.2d 975 (Fla. 1999). In Carricarte, the attorney

alleged that he had no notice that The Florida Bar was seeking a mental health evaluation as an element of the discipline to be imposed until after both parties had rested at the final hearing and, thus, he had not opportunity to defend against it. Accordingly, Carricarte argued that the Referee's recommendation that a mental health evaluation be required was a violation of his right to due process of law. The opinion noted that there were two separate hearings held, one as to guilt and the other as to discipline. At the end of the hearing on guilt, the Bar specifically stated the discipline that it was seeking, thereby giving Carricarte notice of the discipline that he was facing. The hearing on the recommended discipline took place almost one month later, thereby providing Carricarte with ample time for preparation of a defense and an opportunity to present any evidence he felt was appropriate. In finding that there was no due process violation, the Court relied on The Florida Bar v. Daniel, 626 So.2d 178 (Fla. 1993), which held that an attorney's voluntary choice not to take advantage of an opportunity to be heard does not violate due process.

In the instant matter and in violation of the due process requirement of bifurcated hearings as set forth above, Respondent was not provided with a separate hearing on discipline in this case and therefore, was not provided with any opportunity to prepare and present evidence of mitigation. Moreover, the due process right of Respondent to such separate hearing was addressed at the final hearing on discipline

as follows::

"MR. WHALEN (Bar Counsel): Some Referees have asked to bifurcate proceedings, have a finding of facts. Most of them don't, but that would be within your discretion.

THE REFEREE: No. Let's finish the case."

(page 110/15-18, transcript of Final Hearing of May 5, 2000).

As this Court has previously held, an attorney is entitled to due process in disciplinary proceedings and this due process is not discretionary with the Referee. In The Florida Bar v. Centurion, 2000 WL 551035, 25 Fla. L. Weekly S344 (Fla. May 4, 2000), this Court recognized that, in attorney disciplinary proceedings, due process requires that the attorney be allowed to explain the circumstances of the alleged offense and to offer testimony in mitigation of any penalty to be imposed. In Centurion, the attorney was defending a Complaint which alleged five separate offenses involving five different clients. The referee found the attorney guilty on all five counts and recommended a one-year suspension with, *inter alia*, the following condition for reinstatement: a mental health evaluation by Florida Lawyers' Assistance, Inc..

On review, Centurion argued that the one-year suspension followed by one year of probation was too severe, that the referee erred in failing to consider any mitigation

in recommending discipline, that he had no notice that the Bar was seeking discipline in addition to a suspension, and the imposition of such sanctions violated his due process rights. In its opinion, this Court noted that similar discipline had been upheld in cases involving the mishandling of client matters and upheld the Referee's recommendation as to discipline. With regard to mitigation, this Court reiterated that, as to the discipline imposed, due process required that the attorney be allowed to explain the circumstance of the alleged offense and to offer testimony in mitigation of any penalty to be imposed. The opinion also specifically noted that separate hearings were held as to guilt and discipline and that, after the conclusion of the initial hearing on guilt, the attorney had received correspondence from the Bar advising that the Bar would be seeking suspension with proof of rehabilitation prior to reinstatement. The Court found that the correspondence and the prior proceedings in which the attorney's ethical breaches involving client neglect were litigated were sufficient to put the attorney on notice of the discipline that was imposed with the exception of the requirement that the attorney undergo a mental health evaluation. The Bar's correspondence had made no mention of a mental health evaluation, and the facts were not such that the attorney would be aware that his mental health was in question.

The opinion acknowledged that this Court had previously upheld a

recommendation that an attorney undergo a mental health evaluation where the attorney had either not challenged that requirement or the evidence was such that the attorney would have been put on notice that a mental health evaluation was an issue and supported the recommendation of an evaluation; however, since neither of the foregoing circumstances existed, the attorney did not have sufficient notice to allow him to offer testimony in mitigation of this penalty (i.e., the mental health evaluation), and the penalty was not reasonably supported by existing case law. Therefore, the Court approved the Referee's recommended discipline but disapproved the mental health evaluation.

Respondent did not voluntarily choose to forego a separate hearing as to discipline. Rather, the failure of the Referee to hold a separate hearing as to discipline was the result of other factors beyond his personal control. There was the apparent confusion or misunderstanding of the Referee as to the due process requirement for such a hearing as set forth above. There was the Referee's reliance upon Bar counsel for direction, as evidenced by the Referee consulting the Referee Manual (pg. 106/2, transcript of Final Hearing); stating that he wants to make sure he does it correctly (pg. 106/25, transcript of Final Hearing); inquiring as to whether proposed Reports of Referee are ever done (pg. 107/10, transcript of Final Hearing); acknowledging that Bar counsel knows the rules better than he (pg. 108/6, transcript of Final Hearing);

and requesting that Bar counsel instruct the Referee as to how he is to perform his duties (pgs. 131/16 - 132/23, transcript of Final Hearing).

Additionally, Respondent's counsel at the Final Hearing claimed scheduling conflicts and time demands and refused the Referee's offer to allow each party to prepare and submit a proposed Report of Referee (pgs. 107/6 - 109/19 and pgs. 130/11, 19 - 131/17, transcript of Final Hearing). Respondent's counsel was not specifically offered an opportunity to present mitigation evidence in a separate proceeding. Respondent should not be punished or otherwise suffer because of these factors, and this Court should not allow the due process rights of Respondent to be violated due to these factors, which were beyond his personal control.

The record establishes that, in this case, the Referee did not hold a hearing on sanctions solely because of the personal preference and convenience of Respondent's previous attorney, to "save...a tremendous amount of time and trouble" (page 130, line 22-23, transcript of the Final Hearing of May 5, 2000). Respondent's previous attorney appears to have placed his own personal concerns and preferences above that of Respondent and, as a result, Respondent was deprived of his fundamental right to due process.

Respondent did not leave the final hearing or otherwise excuse himself from the proceedings. In fact, the record shows that there was no affirmative action whatsoever

on the part of Respondent that would have caused the Referee to believe that Respondent himself was making a "choice," exercising a "waiver," or pursuing some "strategy or tactic" in not presenting evidence in mitigation of the disbarment recommendation.

II. THE REFEREE'S FINDINGS OF FACT ARE ERRONEOUS, NOT SUPPORTED BY THE RECORD, AND DO NOT SUPPORT A FINDING THAT RESPONDENT VIOLATED ANY RULES REGULATING THE FLORIDA BAR.

There is an insufficient factual basis for the Referee's findings of fact and conclusion that Respondent violated the Rules Regulating The Florida Bar. In paragraph 1 of the Report of Referee dated May 26, 2000, the Referee found that Respondent had relocated to Florida in April of 1997; however, the uncontroverted facts in the record show that Respondent had moved to Florida prior to April 1997 and had been residing in Florida at the time his wife moved out of their marital home and obtained a restraining order against him. (Tr. page 18, line 20 - page 19, line 6; page 57, lines 1-2.)

In paragraph 2 of the Report of Referee, the Referee found that, when their home in Dade County became subject to a foreclosure action, Respondent alone decided to sell it; however, the uncontroverted facts in the record show that Respondent and his wife discussed the foreclosure and the selling of the home and that they were in agreement with the decision to sell. (Tr. page 19, line 25 - page 21, line

5; page 27, line 25 - page 28, line 7; page 58, lines 9-18; page 61, lines 19 - page 62, line 2; page 71, lines 16-18). The Referee found that Respondent himself had located a buyer for the home in Dade County, but the record shows that the Respondent's father, who was still living in the home, assisted in their activity to sell the home and that it was the Respondent's father, not Respondent, who located the buyer. (Tr. page 58, lines 17-18; page 62, line 23.) Additionally, the record shows that neither Respondent nor his wife had any contact with the buyer, other than through documents at issue in this action. (Tr. page 23, lines 1-3; page 74, line 25 - page 75, line 2.) The record further shows that, at all times, Respondent's wife was aware that the house was being marketed for sale "by owner" and that her father-in-law was assisting in their marketing activities. (Tr. page 58, lines 9-18; page 66, lines 9-10.) The Referee found that Respondent retained an attorney in Dade County to represent him alone when, in fact, the record shows that Mr. Parks was retained to represent both Respondent and his wife in the sale of their property as tenants by the entirety. (Tr. page 6, lines 5-25; page 24, lines 15-22.)

In paragraph 3 of the Report of Referee, the Referee found that the wife had no idea whatsoever that the Dade County home was sold; however, the uncontroverted facts in the record show that the wife had sole possession of all of the documents relating to the Dade County home and that she had delivered to Respondent those

same documents effectuate the sale. (Tr. page 25, lines 6-9; page 27, lines 8-13.) The record also shows the wife's refusal to release any original document in her possession. Beginning at page 68, line 6, of the Transcript of the Final Hearing, the record shows that she brought with her to the final hearing a stack of documents which included copies of the closing documents she purportedly received from Respondent. When asked if the original copies could be substituted for those in evidence, she refused:

THE WITNESS: No, I want the originals.

BY MR. POWELL:

- Q. You want the originals?
- A. Absolutely.

(Tr. page 69, lines 1-4).

Therefore, it is unreasonable and erroneous to conclude that Respondent's wife would have released any document to Respondent if she had not know the reason and if she were not in agreement, particularly if she did not want the sale to happen. The fact that she delivered the real estate documents to Respondent is clear evidence of her knowledge of, agreement with, and desire to sell the Dade County home.

In paragraph 4 of the Report of Referee, the Referee found that Respondent led his secretary, Marlene Keller, to believe that Respondent's wife had merely forgotten

to have her signature notarized. However, there is nothing in the record to support this finding. Respondent testified that he simply asked her if she would notarize their signatures. (Tr. page 36, lines 21-23; page 37, lines 19-21; page 90, line 23 - page 91, line 16.) Ms. Keller testified as follows:

[BY MR. WHALEN:]

- Q. Can you explain to the Court how it came about that you notarized the document without seeing Ellen Baker sign it?
- A. We were working on a pretty big case. It was one of the last days of a big trial. And on my desk was the deed. And I had gone into Mr. Baker and said that Ellen had not had this notarized. And he had asked, "Can you please do that for me."

And I proceeded to sign and notarize. And then I went back and said to Mr. Baker -- because I wasn't looking at it closely -- that it hadn't been witnessed. Mr. Baker asked if I would talk to Gladys Ortega and Becky Allison to see if they would witness her signature.

- Q. Did you watch the two other employees sign that document?
- A. Yes, sir.
- Q. Do you know if Mr. Baker was in their presence when you brought that document to the employees?

A. No, sir. He was in his office.

(Tr. page 90, line 23 - page 91, line 16.)

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