IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE FLORIDA BAR, Case No. SC96,980
TFB No.99-10,468(20A)
Complainant,

vs.

JAMES EDMUND BAKER

Respondent.

ANSWER BRIEF
OF
THE FLORIDA BAR

STEPHEN CHRISTOPHER WHALEN
Assistant Staff Counsel
The Florida Bar
Suite C-49
Tampa Airport, Marriott Hotel
Tampa, Florida 33607
(813)875-9821
Florida Bar No. 651941

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Respondent's right to due process of law was not violated by the lack of a separate hearing on discipline. Respondent was given ample opportunity to explain the circumstances of his alleged offense and to present mitigating evidence at the Final Hearing, however, Respondent chose not to take advantage of the opportunity afforded to him.

The record in this case clearly supports the Referee's findings of fact and recommendations of guilt, and they should be upheld. The evidence shows that the Respondent signed his wife's name on legal documents in order to sell jointly owned property without her knowledge or consent. In so doing, he committed forgery, an offense prosecutable as a felony. He then presented the forged documents to his secretary, a notary public, and requested her to unlawfully notarize them. Respondent perpetuated the fraud and deceit by allowing another attorney to close a real estate sale using illegal documents. Respondent signed his wife's name on the proceeds check from the sale without her knowledge or consent, and deposited the funds into a personal account to which she had no access.

The Referee recommended that the Respondent be disbarred from the practice of law for five years. Disbarment is the appropriate sanction for Respondent's multiple acts of fraud, forgery and deceit, and the Referee's recommendation should be approved by this Court.

ARGUMENT

I. RESPONDENT HAD NO DUE PROCESS RIGHT TO A SEPARATE HEARING ON DISCIPLINE AND HE HAD AMPLE OPPORTUNITY TO EXPLAIN THE CIRCUMSTANCES OF THE ALLEGED OFFENSE AND TO OFFER MITIGATING EVIDENCE AT THE FINAL HEARING ON MAY 5, 2000.

Respondent argues that his due process rights were violated by the Referee's failure to provide him the opportunity to explain the circumstances of the alleged offense and to offer evidence in mitigation of any discipline imposed. Respondent maintains that the Referee should have held a separate hearing on discipline, thus affording the Respondent time to prepare and present evidence of mitigation. The record in this case shows that Respondent was provided ample opportunity to present his side of the case, including any mitigating factors. Moreover, the decisions of this Court do not require bifurcated disciplinary hearings to satisfy the requirements of due process of the law.

A. RESPONDENT HAD AMPLE OPPORTUNITY TO EXPLAIN THE CIRCUMSTANCES OF THE ALLEGED OFFENSE AND TO OFFER MITIGATING EVIDENCE AT THE FINAL HEARING.

At the Final Hearing on May 5, 2000, after the Bar rested its case in chief, the Court asked Respondent's counsel if he had any witnesses to call.

Respondent's counsel responded by asking for a lunch recess. Following the

recess, Respondent's counsel declined to present any evidence or witnesses and rested the defense's case, stating:

Because this case, the way it was presented to the Court with us being able to introduce our documents into evidence, Your Honor, and because of the testimony that was brought out by Mr. Baker, I think you have heard our case, Judge.

And we have into evidence all the exhibits we wanted to introduce into evidence. And so based on that, Your Honor, we'd like to rest our case.

(Tr. page 105, line 15-22).

The Referee then indicated he would proceed to closing arguments. After some discussion of whether the Referee would require written proposed findings, which decision was tabled until after closing arguments, Bar counsel asked if the Referee wanted to hear argument regarding the Bar's position on discipline. The Referee replied in the affirmative, stating:

So yes, I would say not only tell me what you believe the evidence has shown, the clear and convincing evidence has shown, but, Judge, here is what the Florida Bar thinks you ought to do and why. And conversely, the same thing with Mr. Baker. Am I asking for something you weren't expecting?

(Tr. page 110, line 9-14).

At this point, Respondent's counsel made no response and did not request a separate hearing. In fact, it was Bar counsel who reminded the Referee that the proceedings could be bifurcated for purposes of conducting a mitigation hearing.

(Tr. page 110, lines 15-18). Again, Respondent's counsel did not object or indicate that Respondent needed more time to prepare or present additional evidence before

proceeding to closing arguments. Respondent never requested a separate hearing, but now argues that his due process rights were violated by the Referee's failure to hold bifurcated hearings.

At the conclusion of closing arguments, when the Referee asked counsel for both parties what they wanted to do about proposed factual findings, Respondent's counsel declined the opportunity to submit written findings to the court:

MR. POWELL: If you don't need it, Judge, we just ask that you just do it.

THE COURT: That's fine.

MR. POWELL: It would save us a tremendous amount of time and trouble.

THE COURT: No. Some people like to do it, because, like I say, it gives them another chance to throw their position on the Court.

That's all.

(Tr. page 130, lines 11-25; page 131, line 1).

The record clearly shows that, contrary to the Respondent's assertions, he was not prevented from presenting mitigating evidence, and, in fact, declined the opportunity to do so when it was afforded to him. Respondent even declined "another chance" to present his position to the Referee in the form of proposed written findings.

A similar situation occurred in The Florida Bar v. Weed, 559 So. 2d 1094 (Fla. 1990). Weed argued that the referee erred in not permitting him to present mitigating evidence. At the hearing, the referee had requested each side to file a memorandum regarding aggravation or mitigation of discipline. Weed chose not to submit a memorandum. This Court found no error in the referee's refusal to allow

Weed to present mitigating evidence after the referee made his findings, stating that “Weed chose not to take advantage of an opportunity afforded to him.” *Id.* at 1096.

The absence of any request by Respondent and his counsel to bifurcate the proceedings or otherwise present testimony in mitigation when afforded the opportunity to do so clearly constituted a waiver to present such evidence. Furthermore, neither Respondent nor his counsel made a request to the Referee or this Court for a hearing to present mitigating evidence at any time prior to this Court’s November 2, 2000 Order approving the Report of Referee.

B. RESPONDENT’S DUE PROCESS RIGHTS WERE NOT VIOLATED BY THE LACK OF A SEPARATE HEARING ON DISCIPLINE.

The cases cited by Respondent in his Initial Brief do not support his contention that his due process rights were violated by the manner in which the Referee conducted the Final Hearing on May 5, 2000. Respondent’s reliance on this case is misplaced. In The Florida Bar v. Carricarte, 733 So. 2d 975 (Fla. 1999), the due process issue before this Court was a challenge to the requirement of a mental health evaluation as part of the discipline imposed on the basis that the attorney was not afforded notice that his mental state was in question. In Carricarte, the only aspect of discipline challenged by the respondent was the requirement that he submit to an evaluation by Florida Lawyer’s Assistance, Inc. (F.L.A.). *Id.* at 978. The Court found that the respondent “was aware that his

mental state was in question and that he had an opportunity to offer evidence on this issue and simply failed to do so.” Id. At 979. The Court held there was no due process violation where the respondent had “an opportunity to present any evidence he felt was appropriate” and “he presented no evidence to refute the Bar’s recommendation.” Id.

Similarly, in The Florida Bar v. Centurion, 2000 WL 551035 (Fla.), 25 Fla. L. Weekly S344 (Fla. May 4, 2000), Centurion argued that his due process rights were violated by the requirement that he undergo a mental health evaluation by Florida Lawyers’ Assistance. He claimed he had no notice that the Bar was seeking discipline in addition to a suspension. The referee recommended conditions of reinstatement, which included a mental health evaluation, the completion of ten ethics credits, and passing the Ethics portion of the Bar exam. The Court approved the referee’s recommended discipline, with the exception of the mental health evaluation, concluding that Centurion did not have sufficient notice to allow him to offer testimony in mitigation of this penalty. The facts of the case were not such that Centurion would be aware that his mental health was in question.

In the instant case, Respondent’s mental state was never in issue. He appears to be arguing his due process rights were violated because he had no notice that the Bar would be seeking the sanction of disbarment. Given the serious nature of Respondent’s misconduct, including fraud, criminal acts of forgery, and

multiple misrepresentations, Respondent was clearly on notice that he was subject to severe discipline. Moreover, Respondent cannot claim that he was unaware that the Bar was seeking disbarment. In closing argument at the Final Hearing, counsel presented the Bar's case for disbarment. Respondent was given an opportunity to respond, and could have requested an opportunity to present additional evidence at a future hearing. Respondent chose not to do so and cannot now argue a due process violation.

Respondent has no due process right to advance notice of the specific disciplinary sanction sought by the Bar. Due process in Bar disciplinary proceedings requires that attorneys must know the charges they face before proceedings commence. The Florida Bar v. Vernell, 721 So. 2d 705 (Fla. 1998). The Respondent in this case was served with a complaint clearly specifying the charges against him and the misconduct alleged. He had full knowledge of the specific rule violations charged. Moreover, the nature of the proceedings themselves were sufficient to put Respondent on notice of the possibility of the sanction of disbarment. He cannot now argue a deprivation of due process.

Respondent also cites The Florida Bar v. Daniel, 626 So. 2d 178 (Fla. 1993) in support of his due process argument. In that case, Daniel argued he was deprived of due process because he was not given the opportunity to challenge or refute the costs assessed against him. This Court found his argument "totally without merit." Id. At 182. Daniel appeared at a hearing at which costs and

discipline were to be assessed, however, he voluntarily excused himself from the hearing. Id. After Daniel left, Bar counsel made a brief argument as to appropriate discipline and submitted a memorandum addressing discipline and costs. The Court held that “Daniel clearly was afforded an opportunity to be heard; the fact that he voluntarily chose not to take advantage of that opportunity does not offend due process.” Id. at 183.

Respondent argues that he had no choice in the matter of being heard on the subject of discipline. He implies that the Referee deliberately deprived him of the opportunity to present mitigating evidence. The record shows that this is simply not true. Like the attorney in Daniel, Respondent was afforded an opportunity to be heard and voluntarily chose not to take advantage of it. Although Respondent and his counsel did not leave the hearing, no objection was raised regarding the Referee’s decision to proceed with closing argument. When the transcript of the hearing is reviewed, it appears that Respondent and his counsel did not intend to present mitigating evidence. In fact, Respondent’s counsel advised the Referee that a “tremendous amount of time and trouble” would be saved if he were not required to submit a written argument (Tr. page 130, lines 22-23).

Considering the fact that Respondent did not present any witnesses in his defense and the absence of any request or attempt to present mitigating evidence, it is not unreasonable to conclude that for strategic and tactical reasons, he chose not to offer mitigating evidence. With the benefit of hindsight, Respondent now

argues that he had “no choice” in the matter of presenting mitigating evidence and therefore, he was deprived of his constitutional right to be heard. Respondent’s claim that his due process rights were violated is without merit.

II. THE REFEREE’S FINDINGS OF FACT ARE SUPPORTED BY THE CLEAR AND CONVINCING EVIDENCE IN THE RECORD, AND SHOULD BE UPHELD.

The Respondent challenges the Referee’s findings of fact as being erroneous and unsupported by the record. Respondent essentially disagrees with the Referee’s findings of fact on the basis that they are contrary to his own testimony.

A Referee’s findings of fact are presumed to be correct and should be upheld unless clearly erroneous or lacking in evidentiary support since the Referee had an opportunity to personally observe the demeanor of the witnesses and to assess their credibility. The Florida Bar v. Stalnaker, 485 So. 2d 815 (Fla. 1986). In order to successfully challenge the Referee’s findings, Respondent must demonstrate “that there is no evidence in the record to support [the referee’s] findings or that the record evidence clearly contradicts the conclusions.” The Florida Bar v. Spann, 682 So. 2d 1070, 1073 (Fla. 1996). Respondent has not met this burden.

This Court has stated that “the referee is in a unique position to assess the credibility of witnesses, and his judgment regarding credibility should not be overturned absent clear and convincing evidence that his judgment is incorrect.” The Florida Bar v. Fredericks, 731 So. 2d 1249, 1251 (Fla. 1999). It is clear in this

case that the Referee weighed the credibility of Respondent's testimony, and where the evidence was in conflict, chose to credit the documentary evidence and the testimony of other witnesses over the testimony of Respondent.

Respondent disputes the Referee's finding in Paragraph 1 of the Report of Referee that he moved to Florida in April of 1997. An examination of the record does not reveal the exact date of Respondent's relocation to Ft. Myers, Florida. The Bar maintains that, whether Respondent moved to Florida during April of 1997 or prior to April of 1997, does not change the nature of the misconduct which occurred in July of 1997.

Respondent claims as erroneous a number of the Referee's findings in Paragraph 2 of the Report of Referee, concerning the sale of the Miami home. It is not disputed that Mrs. Baker discussed with her husband the need to sell the Miami home which was the subject of a foreclosure action. Mrs. Baker was also aware that Respondent's father would be assisting in a "sale by owner." (Tr. page 58, lines 15-21). What Mrs. Baker did **not** know, however, was that the Respondent executed a Contract for Sale and Purchase with a specific buyer, a Soraima Palomino, on or about July 1, 1997. (Tr. page 58, lines 22-25; page 59, lines 1-3; TFB Ex. 5). It is irrelevant to the misconduct at issue whether or not Respondent's father assisted in locating a buyer; it was the Respondent who forged the closing documents, not his father. Respondent disputes the Referee's finding that he alone hired an attorney to represent him in the sale of the Miami home. Of course, the

attorney would have to know the property was jointly owned in order to prepare the closing documents. The key fact is that Mrs. Baker did not know that Respondent hired an attorney in Dade County to handle the sale, and in fact, did not even know about the sale. (Tr. page 58, lines 22-24; Tr. page 59, lines 21-22; Tr. page 69, lines 5-7).

Respondent disputes the Referee's finding in Paragraph 3 of the Report of Referee that Respondent's wife had no idea that the Dade County home was sold. It is not disputed that Mrs. Baker knew that her husband was attempting to sell the home, and may very well have supplied him with original documents in her possession pertaining to the ownership of the home. The fact that Mrs. Baker knew the house was on the market is not in dispute. What the Referee found was that she was unaware that Respondent had actually sold the home. The clear and convincing evidence in the record supports the Referee's finding that Mrs. Baker had no idea whatsoever that the Dade County home had been sold. (Tr. page 58, lines 22-24; Tr. page 64, lines 16-21; Tr. page 66, lines 3-8). Respondent makes much of a stack of original closing documents that Mrs. Baker brought to the Final Hearing. These documents only support the finding that Respondent attempted to deceive his wife as to the actual sale by sending her blank documents to sign the day **after** the closing. (Tr. page 68, lines 9-12; Tr. page 59, lines 8-22).

Respondent claims the Referee erred in finding, in Paragraph 4 of his Report that Respondent led his secretary to believe that his wife had merely forgotten to

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